# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-31-2009

## Brian and Christie, Inc. v. Leishman Elec. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35929

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### i. Nature of the Case:

Taco Time appeals from summary judgment dismissing its negligence claim based on the economic loss rule. The claim arises from an electrical fire at Taco Time's restaurant located in Rexburg, Idaho. The electrical fire was caused by a defective neon sign and obsolete transformer which failed to comply with the National Electrical Code ("NEC"). The fire caused extensive damage to Taco Time's restaurant building, fixtures, equipment, appliances, inventory, other contents and personal property located in the building at time of the fire, lost profits, and expenses for clean up, repair, replacement, and reconstruction. Total damages approach \$300,000.00.

The neon sign and transformer were installed on the building by Sign Pro of Southeastern Idaho, Inc. ("Sign Pro") under a verbal agreement with Taco Time. Importantly, Sign Pro did *not* connect the primary building power to the neon sign and transformer because its employee was not a licensed electrician and lacked authority to do so.

Instead, Defendant-Respondent Leishman Electric, Inc. ("Leishman"), a licensed electrical subcontractor, negligently connected final, permanent primary building power to the sign and transformer without inspecting or verifying NEC compliance or ensuring it was safe to do so. Such connection was the final step necessary to energize that electrical circuit. Leishman made the connection while working at the Taco Time restaurant as the electrical subcontractor,

hired by the general contractor, under a separate written agreement for extensive remodeling of the interior and exterior of the building.

Taco Time contends the economic loss rule does not apply and the district court erred in granting summary judgment exclusively based on it. Taco Time seeks reversal of the summary judgment and remand for trial.

The economic loss rule does not apply where there is property damage to the defective chattel itself caused by an accident, casualty event, disaster, or calamitous event.

The economic loss rule does not apply where other property damage was caused by the defective neon sign and transformer. Other property damage includes the building, fixtures, equipment, appliances, inventory, and other contents and personal property located in the building at the time of the fire.

The economic loss rule does not apply where economic loss is parasitic to other property damage.

The economic loss rule does not apply where there is a "special relationship" which should be recognized here for a licensed electrical contractor, which rendered specialized services, and held itself out to the public as a competent quasi-professional.

In addition, the district court misconstrued and misapplied the economic loss rule to completely bar Taco Time's negligence claims finding that the "defective property which was the subject of the transaction" was the entire building remodel project merely because the neon sign and transformer were a physical part of the building. However, the undisputed facts here establish two separate and distinct "transactions": one was the neon sign and transformer installation; the other was the extensive building remodel. The district court "intermixed" the

two as synonymous or interchangeable. In so doing, the defective neon sign and transformer "transaction" was expanded to include the entire building remodel "transaction." The entire building thus became the "defective subject which was the subject of the transaction" to completely bar any recovery, rather than just the neon sign and transformer which the facts clearly evidence.

In addition, on remand Taco Time seeks reversal of the district court's ruling denying its motion to amend its complaint. Amendment is necessary so Taco Time may seek recovery of 100% of its total damages of nearly \$300,000.00. The original complaint mistakenly sought recovery of only 50% of the total damages. The mistake was the incorrect assumption that Taco Time must give Leishman an offset for settlement monies recovered from Sign Pro. This Court's decision in the *Sani-Top* case and I.C. § 6-805(2) direct otherwise.

Taco Time seeks an award of attorney fees on appeal under I.C. § 12-121. Given this Court's preexisting case law, the economic loss rule clearly does not apply. Leishman's defense based thereon was raised without reasonable foundation in fact or law and is frivolous.

### ii. Course of Proceedings Below:

The course of proceedings below material to this appeal are the following:

On June 5, 2007 Leishman's Motion for Summary Judgment was filed based on the economic loss rule and other grounds not material to this appeal. R., Vol. I, pp. 21-22.

On October 15, 2007, after briefing and oral argument, the Court's Memorandum Decision issued. R., Vol. I, pp. 98-103. The key holding grants *partial* summary judgment based on the economic loss rule stating:

"In this Court's view, the subject of the transaction with which Leishman Electric was involved was the remodel project including, of necessity, the electrical work to supply power to operate the signs acquired as part of the project. Application of the economic loss rule prevents Taco Time's negligence claims seeking loss of income as well property damage that was subject of the transaction, i.e., the remodel project of 1998-1999 [footnote 6]. [string citation to Idaho case law referring to economic loss rule omitted]. The entire record lead this Court to conclude that the economic loss rule bars any negligence claims asserted against Leishman, except for property damage not involved with the remodel project." (italics added)

R., Vol. I, pp. 101-02.

Taco Time contends the first italicized portion of the above quote is flawed and contrary to the undisputed facts establishing two separate and distinct contracts or "transactions," i.e., one with Sign Pro to install the defective neon sign and obsolete transformer, and another one with the general contractor for the extensive remodel project (who in turn hired Leishman as the electrical subcontractor). The district court's flawed reasoning "lumps together" the two separate contracts or "transactions."

Taco Time further contends the second italicized portion of the above quote evidences the district court's finding, supported by the undisputed evidence, that other property damage, not involved in the remodel project, existed. Taco Time agrees. The district court's first ruling acknowledging at least some "other property damage" renders the economic loss rule completely inapplicable as a matter of law.

On August 12, 2008, Taco Time moved for reconsideration of partial summary judgment based on the economic loss rule. R., Vol. II, pp. 285-87. Taco Time also moved to amend its Complaint to allege 100% of its damages were recoverable against Leishman, without offset for settlement monies recovered from Sign Pro. The decision did not only deny Taco Time's motion for reconsideration. It sua sponte enlarged its earlier partial summary judgment ruling, granting APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - Page 4

full summary judgment, despite no motion seeking such relief having been made by Leishman. Evidently, the Court was determined to get the case off its docket for whatever reason. *See* Complaint, ¶¶ 30-31 (R., Vol. I, p. 14) with proposed First Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 27-31 (R., Vol. II, p. 296).

On September 16, 2008 the hearing on Taco Time's motion for reconsideration and motion to amend complaint was held. During the argument, the district court candidly confessed having "struggled with this, gentlemen, for a least five or six years on this miserable [economic loss] rule and when I think I've got it figured out there's a new wrinkle in it and I'm not sure it's as easy as you're presenting. It may be. I hope it is. That's what I'm struggling with." The court also indicated uncertainty and confusion as to whether the economic loss applied where there was other property damage, as it had found in its earlier partial summary judgment decision. In response to this argument, the district court responded: "... I wish the Supreme Court would say that." Tr., pp. 20-22. Taco Time's briefing and oral argument presented the case Iaw so holding, but to no avail.

On October 1, 2008 the decision granting full summary judgment based on the economic loss rule, and denying Taco Time's motion to amend complaint, was issued. R., Vol. II, pp. 302-04. A Judgment of Dismissal was entered the same date. R., Vol. II, p. 306.

Subsequently, the district court awarded \$12,500 in costs to Leishman in a final judgment entered on November 24, 2008. R., Vol. II, p. 349.

Taco Time timely filed this appeal. R., Vol. II, pp. 342-46, pp. 352-56.

### iii. Statement of Material Facts:

The following facts are either undisputed and/or supported by the evidence viewed most favorably to Taco Time as the non-moving party opposing summary judgment:

Brian Larsen ("Brian") and his wife, Christie Larsen, are the owners/principals of
Plaintiff, Brian and Christie, Inc., doing business as Taco Time in Rexburg, Idaho. The first
Affidavit of Brian Larsen ("Larsen Affidavit") explains their involvement and ownership of the
Taco Time restaurant:

- "1. My name is Brian Larsen. I reside in Rexburg, Idaho. My wife's name is Christie Larsen. We are the owners/principals of Plaintiff Brian & Christie, Inc., an Idaho corporation, and doing business under the assumed business name of "Taco Time" in Rexburg, Idaho (hereinafter "Taco Time Restaurant").
- 3. The Taco Time Restaurant has been in existence since 1973 in the present location at 274 South 2<sup>nd</sup> West, Rexburg, Idaho, as a franchise restaurant business.
- 4. I was employed as the general manager of the Taco Time Restaurant by the former owner from approximately 1984 to 1990.
- 5. In 1990 my wife and I purchased the Taco Time Restaurant and franchise from the former owner.
- 6. Since 1991, my wife and I have continuously owned, managed, and operated the Taco Time Restaurant to date. I am personally involved with general operations and management on a day to day basis."

Larsen Affidavit, ¶¶ 1, 3-6 (Tr., Vol. I, pp. 76-77). Brian worked his way up the ladder as a former employee to eventually become the owner. His is an American "success story." He works alongside his employees on a day-to-day basis. He is not an absentee owner/investor.

1. The Building Remodel Contract and Neon Sign and Related Transformer Installation Contract Are Separate and Distinct "Transactions"

The undisputed facts establish that the building remodel contract and neon sign and

related transformer installation contract are separate and distinct transactions. Taco Time made the building remodel contract with a general contractor, who in turn hired Leishman as the electrical subcontractor. There was no privity of contract directly between Taco Time and Leishman.<sup>1</sup>

After 25 years of operation, Brian determined that the restaurant building and business needed updating and remodeling, which occurred in 1998-1999 under a remodel contract entered with a general contractor. His Affidavit explains:

"7. In the second half of 1998 and first half of 1999 we extensively remodeled the exterior and interior of the Taco Time building. An out-of-state general contractor was used which we obtained through contacts with the parent franchisor Taco Time company."

Larsen Affidavit, ¶ 7 (Tr., Vol. I, pp. 77).

At the same time as the remodel project was occurring, Brian purchased two neon signs and related transformers from a defunct restaurant, and hired Sign Pro, a local neon sign company from Idaho Falls, to install them. Again, his Affidavit explains:

"8. As part of the remodel, two exterior neon signs were purchased from a closed Taco Time restaurant located somewhere in Nebraska to put on our Taco Time Restaurant in Rexburg. The two neon signs were shipped from out of state to Idaho. I arranged for the neon signs to be installed by Defendant Sign Pro of Southeast Idaho, Inc. ("Sign Pro"), or by whatever name it had previously gone by which included "Sign Pro" in the name."

Affidavit of Brian Larsen, ¶ 8 (Tr., Vol. I, pp. 77).

The building remodel contract, and neon sign and transformer contract, were separate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Given such lack of privity between Taco Time and Leishman, the district court's statement that "notes Plaintiff's remedies via contract, warranty, etc., are unaffected" by its final summary judgment ruling (R., Vol. II, p. 304) is misleading. The district court was well aware that there was no contract or warranty existing between the parties, and no such remedy other than one based on negligence.

"transactions." Again, his Affidavit explains:

"8. ... My contract with Sign Pro was separate from the remodel project contract with the general contractor, and I paid them a separate price than I paid to the general contractor for the remodel project."

Affidavit of Brian Larsen, ¶ 8 (Tr., Vol. I, p. 77).

Taco Time's Complaint's allegations mirror the facts stated in Larsen's Affidavit with regard to the two:

- "6. Sometime in late 1998 and early 1999 the Plaintiff remodeled its Taco Time restaurant building located in Rexburg, Idaho ("remodel project").
- 7. Plaintiff hired and contracted with a general contractor not named in this action to perform the remodel project, which work was done.
- 8. As part of the remodel project, the general contractor hired Leishman Electric as the electrical subcontractor to perform the electrical work of the remodel project, which work was done.
- 9. As part of the remodel project, Plaintiff purchased used exterior neon signs from another Taco Time restaurant.
- 10. As part of the remodel project, Plaintiff contracted with Sign Pro to inspect, repair, and install two neon sign systems and related electrical wiring, transformers, and related components onto the building, which work was performed."

Complaint, ¶¶ 6-10 (Tr., Vol. I, p. 10). The references "(a)s part of the remodel project" in paragraphs 8-10 of the Complaint quoted above are ambiguous and possibly mislead the district court into the erroneous factual understanding that the "remodel project" was <u>one</u> "transaction," rather than <u>two</u> "transactions" with separate parties as Larsen's Affidavit quoted above clarifies beyond all doubt.

Thus, the undisputed facts set forth above establish two separate and distinct contracts or "transactions" relating to the remodel project versus the neon sign and transformer installation.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - Page 8

### 2. Leishman Connected the Building Power to the Neon Sign And Transfer As The Final Step Energizing The Electrical Circuit Without Inspecting or Determining It Was Safe To Do So

The facts are undisputed that Sign Pro installed the neon signs and transformers on the building, but did *not* connect the building power supply to energize the circuit, which was done solely by Leishman, as the licensed electrical contractor present. The facts are further undisputed that Leishman *did* make the final power connection *without* making any effort to inspect the neon sign or transformer to determine their condition; whether they complied with the NEC; whether they created a fire hazard; or whether they were safe to connect.

Sign Pro's employee only installed the two neon signs on the sides of the building, and related two transformers on the roof. Larsen Affidavit, ¶ 9 (R., Vol. I, p. 78); Affidavit of Michael Packer, ¶¶ 9-11 (R., Vol. II, pp. 262-63)("Packer Affidavit").

Brian did not know who made the final building power connection to the neon signs and transformers. Brian Larsen Affidavit, ¶ 10 (R., Vol. I, p. 78). The answer was supplied in discovery by Sign Pro's employee, Michael Packer. His Affidavit states:

"11. I attached the neon glass to the wall and used high voltage wire routed through plastic conduit to connect the neon glass to the transformer, but I did not make the final connection between the transformer and the primary power source. . . ." (italics added)

Affidavit of Michael Packer, ¶ 11 (R., Vol. II, p. 263). Packer explained why he did not make the primary power connection to energize the circuit:

"14. I was not a licensed electrician, nor was an electrician present who supervised or otherwise observed the installation of the neon signs."

Id.

Further discovery determined that Scott Leishman, a principal in Leishman Electric, and a APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - Page 9

long time journeyman electrician, actually made the connection between the building power and the transformer which led to the neon sign. He testified in his deposition:

- Q: Did you make the connection between the transformer and the building power or connect the transformer to the building power?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Did you observe where that where the line leading downstream from the transformer led to?
- A: No.
- O: So you don't know whether it went to the Taco Time sign?
- A: I don't even know that it was hooked up for sure; I can't to be honest with you, I can't I don't know if that part was completed when I put power into that box.
- Q: Was it a part of your original job, a part of the original project to make a connection of the neon sign?
- A: No.
- Q: How did I guess why did you make that connection then? Mr. Cooper: Object to form.
- A: I didn't hook anything to a sign.
- Q: (By Mr. Whiting): Why did you make a connection of that transformer that you found on the roof to the building power?
- A: I don't know if the general contractor asked us to or if the owner asked us to, I don't know. That's been a long time ago. I don't' know which one asked us to, but we were requested to hook up power to the junction box there.
- Q: And did you know at the time that the junction box was going to provide power to the neon sign?
- A: Yes." (bold emphasis added)

Deposition of Scott Leishman, p. 14, l. 8 to p. 15, l. 7 (R., Vol. I, p. 88).

Leishman's written discovery response also admits Scott Leishman connected the primary building power to the neon sign and transformer in question:

"... Scott Leishman ran power to two junction boxes supplied by Sign Pro and connected the junction box transformers to the primary side or line side power..."

Leishman Answer To Interrogatory No. 10 (R., Vol. I, p. 95).

Scott Leishman further testified that he did not "see" the neon sign in question before making the power connection because he "didn't look at that part of it." Deposition of Scott APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - Page 10

Scott Leishman further testified that he also did not "look" at the transformer to see if it was equipped with the secondary ground fault protection safety feature:

- "Q: Did you look at the transformer before you connected it to the building power?
- A: I saw it sitting there.
- Q: Do you know whether or not it had secondary ground fault protection?
- A: No.
- Q: Why don't you know?
- A: Because I wasn't looking for it.
- Q: Was it contained inside of a junction box?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Was it possible to open the junction box and look at the transformer if you wanted to?
- A: Yes."

Deposition of Scott Leishman, p. 16, ll. 10-22 (R., Vol. I, p. 88).

Bron Leishman is Scott Leishman's brother and also a principal and journeyman electrician for over 30 years who worked on the Taco Time remodel project. He also testified:

- "Q: To the best of your knowledge, did anyone from Leishman Electric inspect the wiring of the neon sign?
- A: Now we're talking about the neon sign that Sign Pro installed? Q: Yes.
- A: No, I don't know that."

Deposition of Bron Leishman, p. 16, ll. 18-23 (R., Vol. I, p. 93).

3. The Large Fire Was A Major Accident,
Casualty, Disaster, Event, or Calamitous Event
Resulting In Extensive Damage To The Building,
Fixtures, Equipment, Appliances, Inventory, and
Other Personal Property and Contents

The fire was a major accident, casualty event, disaster, or calamitous event, which resulted in extensive damages resulting to the building and contents. Larsen's Affidavit states:

"13. On June 9, 2004, in the late evening hours, there was a major fire at the Taco Time Restaurant which caused substantial damage to the building and contents and business losses due to inability to operate while repairs were made. We could have continued to operate the business without the neon sign, just as we did prior to its installation and since the fire, if the building, equipment, furniture and supplies had not also been damaged."

Affidavit of Brian Larsen, ¶ 13 (R., Vol. I, pp. 78).

The Second Affidavit of Brian Larsen Exhibits B and B (corrected), contain an itemized list breaking down 17 different categories and amounts of damages sustained in the fire and total approaching the \$300,000.00. R., Vol. I, pp. 117-18.<sup>2</sup> Real and personal property and damages sustained include:

- Building of \$113,208.92 (line item #1 referring to U.S. Bank, which held the mortgage);
- Restaurant and store equipment for \$11,069.47 (line item #2);
- Lost inventory of \$13,796.78 (line item #11);
- Other equipment and expenses of \$20,542.32 (line item #15);
- Fire clean up and restoration of \$11,800.51 plus \$10,134.67 (line items #3 and #16);
- Contractor's repairs of \$7,228.42 plus \$1,451.73 (line items #8 and #10);
- Major systems replacement or replacement for Culligan of \$1,267.23, refrigeration of \$2,717.50, plumbing and heating for \$2,401.00 (line items #6, #7, #12).

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