UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-26-2009

Brian and Christie, Inc. v. Leishman Elec. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35929

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

For example, *Gunkel v. Renovations, Inc.*, 822 N.E.2d 150, 154 (Ind. 2005) observed that because the "economic loss" doctrine permits tort recovery only for personal injury or damage to "other property," if property is damaged it is necessary to identify the product at issue which defines "other" property. The subject of "other property" has been approached in a number of different ways. Much of the law addressing the issue of what constitutes "other property" deals with whether the other property is a distinct item or merely a component of the overall defective product. Other courts have focused on whether "goods" are involved. Yet others have concluded that the economic loss doctrine precludes recovery for injury to "other property" if the injury was, or should have been, reasonably contemplated by the parties to the contract. Some have concluded that the "product" is the product purchased by the plaintiff, not the product sold by the defendant.

This Court recognized in Salmon Rivers Sportsman Camps v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 97 Idaho 348, 351, 544 P.2d 306 (Idaho 1975) that the "economic loss" rule in Idaho has its genesis in the debate about how far courts were willing to extend tort liability, specifically products liability, in cases arising out of contractual relationships. In *Dean v. Barrett Homes, Inc.*, 968 A.2d 192, 406 N.J. Super. 453, 472 (App.Div. 2009) the New Jersey Superior Court, Appellate Division, discussed the interplay between tort law and contract law:

The economic loss rule "defines the boundary between the overlapping theories of tort law and contract law by barring the recovery of purely economic loss in tort, particularly in strict liability and negligence cases." R. Joseph Barton, Note, Drowning in a Sea of Contract: Application of the Economic Loss Rule to Fraud and Negligent Misrepresentation Claims, 41 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 1789, 1789 (2000). The purpose of the rule is to "strike an equitable balance between countervailing public policies," that exist in tort and contracts law. Gennady A. Gorel, Note, The Economic Loss Doctrine: Arguing for the Intermediate Rule and Taming the Tort-eating Monster, 37 Rutgers L. J. 517, 524 (2006).

This theoretical basis for the economic loss rule, however, provides little guidance about

how to apply the rule to a particular set of circumstances. In Idaho the economic loss rule is

described as:

Unless an exception applies, the economic loss rule prohibits recovery of purely economic losses in a negligence action because there is no duty to prevent economic loss to another. *Duffin v. Idaho Crop Improvement Ass'n.*, 126 Idaho 1002, 1007, 895 P.2d 1195, 1200 (1995); *Tusch Enters. v. Coffin*, 113 Idaho 37, 41, 740 P.2d 1022, 1026 (1987); *Clark v. International Harvester Co.*, 99 Idaho 326, 336, 581 P.2d 784, 794 (1978). The rule "applies to negligence cases in general; its application is not restricted to products liability cases." *Ramerth v. Hart*, 133 Idaho 194, 197, 983 P.2d 848, 851 (1999) (citations omitted). "Economic loss includes costs of repair and replacement of defective property which is the subject of the transaction, as well as commercial loss for inadequate value and consequent loss of profits or use." *Salmon Rivers Sportsman Camps, Inc., v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, 97 Idaho 348, 351, 544 P.2d 306, 309 (1975). On the

other hand, "property damage encompasses damage to property other than that which is the subject of the transaction." *Id*.

Blahd v. Richard B. Smith, Inc., 141 Idaho 296, 300, 108 P.3d 996 (Idaho 2005)

Distinguishing between the "subject of the transaction" and "other property" is a perplexing task. The economic loss rule does not seem to be conducive to bright line rules which makes its application to a particular set of circumstances difficult. That is no less the case here. Taco Time was in privity of contract with the person or entity from whom it purchased the damaged neon sign and the transformers which did not comply with the National Electrical Code. Taco Time did not exercise its contractual remedies against the seller for the defects which it now alleges caused the fire that caused the damages it seeks to recover. Taco Time was in privity of contract or which subcontracted with Leishman Electric for the electrical work on the remodel project in 1998/1999. Taco Time did not exercise its contractual remedies against the general contractor. Taco Time was in privity of contract with Sign Pro which installed the neon signs and connected it to the transformers. Taco Time did exercise its contractual remedies against Sign Pro and elected to settle for 50% of its loss.

Because of Taco Time's decisions to either not exercise or only partially exercise its contractual rights against those with which it had privity of contract and, instead, seek recovery against an entity with which it did not have privity, the trial court was and now this Court is faced with deciding whether Taco Time should be able to recover the rest of its damages from Leishman Electric based only on negligence theories. In Texas, this lack of privity would preclude Taco Time's claims under its interpretation and application of the economic loss rule. *Sterling Chems., Inc. v. Texaco Inc.*, 259 S.W.3d 793, 797 (Tex. App. Houston 1st Dist. 2007)

(Texas courts have applied the economic loss rule to preclude tort claims between parties who are not in contractual privity)

Citing the "modern trend³" the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals, in *Dakota Gasification Co. v. Pascoe Bldg. Sys.*, 91 F.3d 1094, 1099 (8th Cir. N.D. 1996), held that the economic loss rule precluded the owners of an oxygen plant from recovering against the subcontractor who supplied the pre-engineered metal building that enclosed the oxygen plant⁴. Similar to this case, the building did not fail until more than eight years after the subcontractor had finished its work. That is when a part of the oxygen plant's roof collapsed under the weight of ice and snow, causing damage to various items within the plant. Although the collapse caused significant damage to property, it did not cause any personal injuries. The collapse was caused by a faulty weld which was not, but allegedly should have been, discovered during the construction. The trial court and the appellate court were faced with trying to determine whether the damage was only to the product itself [the "product itself" and "the subject of the transaction" are similar, if *not* the same concept] or to "other property." Both decided there was no damage to "other property" and barred recovery based on the economic loss rule:

The trial court recognized that the modern trend in many jurisdictions holds that tort remedies are unavailable for property damage experienced by the

The "modern trend" has been described as the "forseeability test" which involves the extension of the economic loss doctrine to preclude liability in tort for physical damage to other nearby property of commercial purchasers who could foresee such risks at the time of purchase. *Dakota Gasification Co. v. Pascoe Bldg. Sys.*, 91 F.3d 1094, 1101 (8th Cir. N.D. 1996)

⁴ It should be noted that although the modern trend is still binding in Eight Circuit federal litigation, North Dakota has not yet adopted this "modern trend." See *Albers v. Deere & Co.*, 599 F. Supp. 2d 1142, 1147 (D.N.D. 2008)

owner where the damage was a foreseeable result of a defect at the time the parties contractually determined their respective exposure to risk, regardless whether the damage was to the "goods" themselves or to "other property." Dakota Gasification Co. v. Pascoe Bldg. Sys., 91 F.3d 1094, 1099 (8th Cir. N.D. 1996)

Dakota Gasification Co. v. Pascoe Bldg. Sys., 91 F.3d 1094, 1100 (8th Cir. N.D. 1996)

Allowing tort remedies in a case such as this would perversely encourage contractors to "bargain" for no warranty or insurance protection in exchange for a reduced purchase price, because they could rely on tort remedies as their "warranty." Such an outcome is plainly inconsistent with the values of commercial efficiency and predictability that drive the economic loss doctrine . . .

Dakota Gasification Co. v. Pascoe Bldg. Sys., 91 F.3d 1094, 1100 (8th Cir. N.D. 1996)

The facts of this case are not unlike the facts in *Dakota Gasification*. There the roof collapsed causing damages to various items in the plant. Here the fire caused damages to various items in the Taco Time restaurant. Taco Time has or had contract remedies against those with which it had contractual relationships. Clearly it could have bargained for warranties and other contractual protection from those with which it had contractual relationships. Taco Time insured itself from the risk of these damages as evidenced by the fact that this is an insurance subrogation action. R., Vol. I, p. 54, Answer to Interrogatory No. 16 If the "modern trend" were applied to this case, the "economic loss doctrine" would bar any tort claims for the damages which Taco

Time now seeks to recover from Leishman Electric.

In 1998, the American Law Institute adopted Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability, § 21 which addressed the issue but failed to provide any bright line rule to make application of the economic loss rule easier. The following comment provides what little guidance is offered:

Harm to the plaintiff's property other than the defective product itself. A defective product that causes harm to property other than the defective product itself is governed by the rules of this Restatement. What constitutes harm to other property rather than harm to the product itself may be difficult to determine. A product that nondangerously fails to function due to a product defect has clearly caused harm only to itself. A product that fails to function and causes harm to surrounding property has clearly caused harm to other property. However, when a component part of a machine or a system destroys the rest of the machine or system, the characterization process becomes more difficult. When the product or system is deemed to be an integrated whole, courts treat such damages as harm to the product itself. When so characterized, the damage is excluded from the coverage of this Restatement. A contrary holding would require a finding of property damage in virtually every case in which a product harms itself and would prevent contractual rules from serving their legitimate function in governing commercial transactions.

The "integrated whole" referred to in Section 21, Restatement (Third) Torts is also referred to as an "integrated system analysis." Many courts use this analysis to help determine if the case involves damage to the product itself (i.e. the subject of the transaction) or damage to other property. Based on the language in *Blahd v. Richard B. Smith, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 296, 301, 108 P.3d 996 (Idaho 2005) Idaho appears to favor this analysis to help identify whether the damage alleged is to "other property":

The fact that the buyer in *Tusch Enterprises* only sued the builder and the seller is immaterial. It is the subject of the transaction that determines whether a loss is property damage or economic loss, not the status of the party being sued. The Blahds purchased the house and lot as an *integrated whole*. Like the leveled lot and duplex in *Tusch Enterprises*, the subject of the transaction in this case is both

the lot and the house. That being the case, the damages to the Blahds' house are purely economic and the Blahds' negligence claims against the Smith Entities and Jones are barred by the economic loss rule. (*Emphasis* supplied)

The trial court followed this guidance and concluded in this case that: "the various components of the remodeling, including electrical rewiring . . . were of necessity integrated with the existing building to better facilitate the purpose for which the building was used, a restaurant." Therefore, the trial court concluded that the subject of the transaction was the restaurant/building and because "Plaintiff's damage claims do not relate to any property 'other than that which is the subject of the transaction" the claims are barred by the economic loss rule.

R. Vol. II, p. 304

Other courts, most notably Wisconsin, have more fully developed the "integrated whole"

analysis which has been identified as the "majority view"5:

. . . the homeowners purchased a finished product, their condominium units, the quality of which fell below expectations. While the Association argues that the defective windows caused damage to interior and exterior walls and casements, these are but other component parts in a finished product. Because of the integral relationship between the windows, the casements and the surrounding walls, the windows are simply a part of a single system or structure, having no function apart from the buildings for which they were manufactured.

Bay Breeze Condo. Ass'n v. Norco Windows, 2002 WI App 205, 651 N.W.2d 738 (Wis. Ct. App. 2002)

Regardless whether property is other property in a literal sense, it may be "other property" in a legal sense for purposes of the economic loss doctrine. See

Dean v. Barrett Homes, Inc., 406 N.J. Super. 453, 470, 968 A.2d 192 (App.Div. 2009) concluded that in the case of construction defects, the integrated system analysis is the <u>majority</u> <u>view</u>: "We conclude that the sounder view is expressed by us most recently in *Marrone* and the majority of jurisdictions that have addressed the critical issue. Here, plaintiffs purchased a house, not exterior siding, and the exterior siding was an integrated component of the finished product of that house.

Grams v. Milk Prods., Inc., 2005 WI 112, PP27, 31, 283 Wis. 2d 511, 699 N.W.2d 167. At least two tests are used to determine whether damaged property is "other property" in a legal sense: the "integrated system" test and the "disappointed expectations" test. Id., PP27-28, 31. We discuss both below and then, in subsequent subsections, apply them.

Foremost Farms USA Coop. v. Performance Process, Inc., 2006 WI App 246, 297 Wis. 2d 724, 726 N.W.2d 289 (Wis. Ct. App. 2006)

What is immediately apparent from reading the *Foremost Farms* case is that in many situations the "integrated system" test and the "disappointed expectations" test can be difficult and complicated to apply. Thus, not even this approach results in an easy fix to the complicated analysis necessary to determine if the economic loss rule applies. However, the "integrated system" test which looks to see whether the allegedly defective product is a component in a larger system, appears to answer the questions presented by this case. The electrical subcontract work of Leishman Electric which involved re-wiring the electrical system in the Taco Time building so that it could function as a restaurant, including running power to components like the transformers for the neon signs, was completely integrated into a larger system, that being the remodeled restaurant building. Under these circumstances the restaurant/building was an integrated system. The electrical wiring had no function apart from the restaurant where it was installed. According to the *Foremost Farms* decision, "If damaged property is not "other property" under the "integrated system" test, the economic loss doctrine applies and tort claims are barred. The "other property" inquiry ends."

So it is in this case. The Memorandum Decision denying Taco Time's Motion for Reconsideration and granting summary judgment to Leishman Electric stated:

It is the restaurant/building, not the services provided via remodeling, that was the subject of the transaction; and it was the building, its contents, and the profits derived from the building's use that were damaged by the fire. Plaintiff's damage

claims do not relate to any property "other that which is the subject of the transaction."

R. Vol. II, p. 304

The trial court was correct in dismissing Taco Time's claims because they are barred by the economic loss rule.

B. A CALAMITOUS EVENT IS NOT A RECOGNIZED EXCEPTION TO THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE IN IDAHO AND IS NOT A GOOD TEST FOR DETERMINING WHEN THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE APPLIES

Taco Time contends that the economic loss rule does not apply "where an accident, casualty event, disaster, or other calamitous event" occurs. Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 21 This argument is raised for the first time on appeal and should not be considered. *Ramerth v. Hart*, 133 Idaho 194, 197, 983 P.2d 848 (Idaho 1999) (exceptions to the economic loss rule which were not asserted nor decided by the district court will not be considered for the first time on appeal) R. Vol. II, pp. 285-287

In the event this Court does consider the application of this exception, Taco Time's argument should be rejected for several reasons. The United States Supreme Court rejected this exception as a basis for determining whether the economic loss rule applies in *E. River S.S. Corp. v. Transamerica Delaval*, 476 U.S. 858, 870, 90 L.Ed. 2d 865, 106 S. Ct. 2295 (U.S. 1986):

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